IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Plaintiff and Respondent

VS

No. S213571

OCTAVIO AGUILAR,

Defendant and Appellant

First District Court of Appeal, Division Four No. A135516 Appeal from a Judgement of the Superior Court of Contra Costa County No. CM035987 Hon. Thomas Maddock, Judge SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB 18 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

CRC 8.25(1)

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

KIERAN D. C. MANJARREZ
[kcmanjarrez@earthlink.net]
1535 Farmers Lane 133
Santa Rosa, CA 95405
Tel: 415 / 520 0440
[CBN: 62000]

By Appointment of the Court under the Central California Appellate Project Independent Case System

STATEMENT OF CASE

By information, filed 12 March 2012, in Contra Costa County Superior Court, appellant was charged with one count of corporal injury on a spouse (Pen. Code, § 273.5, subd. (a)), committed with a belt, a dangerous and deadly weapon, (Pen. Code, § 12022, subd. (b)(1)) and having suffered a prior conviction for battery within seven years (Pen. Code, §§ 243/273.5, subd. (e)). (CT 92)

On defense motion (Pen. Code, § 1118.1), the court dismissed the deadly weapon enhancement. (CT 60)

By jury verdict, appellant was convicted of the charge. (CT 97, 122) In bifurcated proceedings without jury, appellant was found to have been convicted previously of misdemeanor battery within the meaning of Penal Code section 243, subdivision (e)(1). (RT 208)

At sentencing, the court suspended execution of sentence and placed appellant on formal probation for a term of three years on condition that he serve 300 days local custody with 230 actual and good time credits; that he perform 40 hours community service (Pen. Code § 1203.97, subd. (a)(8)) and that he attend a

batterer's intervention program (Pen. Code, § 1203.97, subd. (a)(6)). Without contemporaneous objection, the court imposed various fines and fees, including *inter alia*: (1) the costs of probation supervision at \$75.00 per month [see Pen. Code § 1203.1b]; (2) a \$564.00 "criminal administration assessment fee" [see Gov. Code, §§ 29550 and 29550.1]; and (3) \$500.00 in "attorneys fees" [see, Pen. Code § 987.8, subd. (b)]. ¹ (CT 199-201; RT 217-220)

On timely notice and appeal, appellant contested the validity of the court's order imposing the above-listed fees. On 28 August 2013, the First District Court of Appeal (Div. Four), affirmed the judgement; and on, 19 September 2012, the court's opinion was ordered published.

Appellant's petition for review was granted on 26 November 2013.

¹ Although the court's minute order and sentencing allocution did not always provide a citation, the full list of fees and fines and their corresponding authorization was: [1] \$200.00 restitution fine (Pen. Code, §1202.4, subd.(b) and \$200.00 parole revocation fine (Pen. Code, § 1204.45); [2] \$450.00 for "Victim's Compensation Restitution;" [3] \$200.00 "pursuant to Penal Code Section 1203.097(a)(5)" [i.e. the Domestic Violence Fund]; [4] costs of probation supervision at \$75.00 per month [see Pen. Code § 1203.1b]; [5] \$176.00 probation report fee [see, Pen. Code, § 1203.1b]; [6] \$564.00 "criminal administration assessment fee" [see Gov. Code, §§ 29550 and/or 29550.1]; [7] \$500.00 "attorneys fees" [see, Pen. Code § 987.8, subd. (b)]; [8] \$25.00 "booking fee" [see Pen. Code, § 1463.07 authorizing an "administrative screening fee" upon conviction for persons released on their own recognizance]; [9] \$40.00 "court security fee" [see Pen. Code § 1464.8]; [10] \$30.0 "court conviction assessment" (Gov. Code, § 70373); [11] costs of alcohol testing at \$10.00/ month, [see In re Christopher H. (1996) 50 Cal.App.4th 1001 [court's discretion].]. (CT 199, 201; RT 218-220)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The substantive facts are not at issue in this appeal. The prosecution's evidence showed that, during an argument over whether appellant was seeing other women, appellant struck his cohabitant spouse with a belt, leaving a large reddish bruise on her thigh.

LEGAL & PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. People v. Pacheco and Contentions on Appeal.

On appeal from the judgement (CT 220) and relying on *People v. Pacheco* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 1392 ["*Pacheco*"], appellant contended that the trial court's assessments of the criminal justice administration fee, the probation supervision fee and attorney fees were imposed without applicable due process advisements and without findings or evidence of the actual costs of the services in question or appellant's ability to pay for them. (See AOB 5, 8)²

In *People v. Pacheco* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 1392, the Sixth District Court of Appeal held that, where a fine or assessment is conditioned upon the defendant's ability to pay, the sentencing court must make a finding with respect thereto; and, if such a finding cannot be inferred from the record, it is imposed without sufficient supporting evidence and may be contested on appeal without

² Unless otherwise noted, all statutory references are to the Penal Code. As used herein, "costs of probation supervision" refers to the fees imposed under Pen. Code, § 1203.1b; "attorney fees" refers to the fees imposed under Pen. Code, § 987.8 and "criminal justice administration fee" or "booking fees" refer to the fees imposed pursuant to Gov. Code, § 29550 through 29550.3.

objection below. (*Id.*, at p. 1399.) Likewise, where applicable, there must be evidence in the record of the actual costs of processing or services for which a defendant is made liable. (*Id.*, at p. 1400.)

In *Pacheco*, following defendant's conviction by guilty plea, the trial court imposed: a \$259.50 criminal justice administration fee under Government Code sections 29550, subdivision (c) or section 29550.2; a \$64 per month probation fee under Penal Code section 1203.1b, and a \$100 attorney fee under Penal Code section 987.8, all without determining defendant's ability to pay. (*Id.*, at p. 1397.) Defendant's counsel interposed no objection to the assessments. (*Ibid.*)

On appeal, defendant argued that the trial court's orders were void as unsupported by sufficient evidence. (*Id.*, at p. 1397.) The court rejected respondent's argument that appellant had forfeited objection to the assessments. (*Ibid.*) Implicitly relying on this Court's decision in *People v. Butler* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1119 ["*Butler*"], *Pacheco* ruled that defendant's claims were "based on the insufficiency of the evidence to support the order or judgment. ...[and]... such claims do not require assertion in the court below to be preserved on appeal." (*Pacheco, supra,* at p. 1397.)³

³ For this proposition, the court cited its own precedent in *People v. Viray* (2005) 134 Cal.App.4th 1186, 1217 [challenge to attorney fees based on insufficiency of evidence may be first asserted on appeal]; however, the cited portion of *Viray* explicitly relied on *Butler's* holding that "[s]uch a challenge requires no predicate objection in the trial court." (*Viray, supra*, at p. 1217, citing *People v. Butler, supra* 31 Cal.4th at p. 1126, quoting *Tahoe National Bank v. Phillips* (1971) 4 Cal.3d 11, 23, fn. 17 ["'Generally, points not urged in the trial court cannot be raised on appeal. . . . The contention that a judgment is not supported by substantial evidence, however, is an obvious exception."].)

The the court ruled that each of the statutory authorizations for the fees in question were "expressly subject to a defendant's ability to pay them" (*ibid*) and that, although a "finding of the defendant's present ability to pay need not be express but may be implied through the content and conduct of the hearings [citation]... any finding of ability to pay must be supported by substantial evidence." (*Id.*, at p. 1398.)⁴ Finding no such evidence, the court vacated the orders and remanded for further determination. (*Id.*, at p. 1403)

B. People v. McCullough and Court of Appeal Ruling.

Following this Court's decision in *People v. McCullough* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 589 ["*McCullough*"] and supplemental briefing ordered thereon, the Court of Appeal held that "[t]he reasoning of *McCullough*, applies to all the fees appellant claims were imposed without a finding of ability to pay" and that without timely objection below he had forfeited any claim of inability to pay as well as any challenge to the actual costs of the fees in question. (Slip. Opn., pp. 3, 5.)

In People v. McCullough (2013) 56 Cal.4th 589, decided during the pendency of appellant's appeal, this Court held that "a defendant who fails to

⁴ Pacheco held further that although a "county officer designated by the court may make an inquiry into a defendant's ability to pay ... it is the court that ultimately must make the ability to pay determination. ...[R]eferral alone does not meet the statutory directive." (Id, supra, 187 Cal.App.4th, at p. 1399 [italics original].) The quoted statement was made with respect to the provisions of Penal Code section 987.8, subdivision (b) governing attorney's fees; however, the court's opinion did not suggest that any different procedure of referral was applicable to the other statutory provisions involved.

contest [a] booking fee⁵ when the court imposes it forfeits the right to challenge it on appeal." (*Id.*, at p. 591, 592.)

This Court contextualized the issue before it as: "whether a defendant who failed to object that the evidence was insufficient to support a finding of his ability to pay a booking fee when the court imposed it has forfeited his right to challenge the fee on appeal." (*Id.*, at p. 591 [italics added].) Stated alternatively, the issue before it was whether the established rule that insufficiency of evidence claims can be asserted on appeal absent objection below applied to court-ordered booking fees. (*Id.*, at p. 592.)

After a legal analysis which is discussed in greater detail below, *McCullough* held that: "Given that imposition of a fee is of much less moment than imposition of sentence, and that the goals advanced by judicial forfeiture apply equally here, we see no reason to conclude that the rule permitting challenges made to the sufficiency of the evidence to support a judgment for the first time on appeal 'should apply to a finding of 'ability to pay a booking fee under Government Code section 29550.2. (*Butler*, *supra*, 31 Cal.4th at p. 1126.) We disapprove *People v. Pacheco*, *supra*, 187 Cal.App.4th 1392, to the extent it holds the contrary." (*McCullough*, *supra*, at p. 599.)

⁵ Per Government Code section 29550.2.

C. Synopsis of Contentions.

Appellant's core contention is that due process requires notice, hearing and express findings on the issues specified by statute before any of the fees in question can be imposed. Since these requirements precondition the court's authority to impose the fees, their imposition may be contested, without prior objection, for evidentiary insufficiency in support of the order made. Appellant argues: that *Pacheco's* holding with respect to attorney fees and probations costs was not overruled; that these fees and costs come within the "forfeiture exception" recognized by *McCullough* and *Butler*; and that a determination of actual costs is essential to preclude the fees in question from becoming punitive and *McCullough's* holding on booking fees should be reconsidered in this regard.

ARGUMENTS

I. McCULLOUGH DID NOT OVERRULE PACHECO'S HOLD-ING WITH RESPECT TO COURT – ORDERED ATTOR-NEY FEES AND COSTS OF PROBATION SUPERVISION.

In *McCullough*, without objection, the defendant was ordered to pay a \$270.17 criminal justice administration fee pursuant to Government Code section 29550.2, subdivision (a). As noted, this Court held that, absent objection below, the defendant had "forfeit[ed] the right to challenge it on appeal." (*Id.*, at p. 591-592) *Pacheco* was disapproved "to the extent it holds to the contrary." (*McCullough*, at p. 599.)

Appellant herein was arrested by the Antioch Police Department and was booked in the county jail. (CT 222) Therefore, the imposition of a criminal justice administration fee was authorized under Government Code section 29550, subdivisions (a), (c) and (d) or alternatively section 29550.1. Accordingly, this aspect of appellant's sentence fell within the ambit of *McCullough's* holding.

However, *McCullough* did not involve a challenge to attorneys fees and probation supervision fees imposed pursuant to Penal Code sections 987.8 and 1203.1b. Moreover, *McCullough* explicitly distinguished these fees from the booking fee before it. (*McCullough*, supra, at pp. 598-599.) It is axiomatic that the rule of a case does not extend to matters not considered or encompassed within its holding. (*People v. Mendoza* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 896, 915 [no authority for an issue not decided or within holding].) Thus, *McCullough* does not affect appellant's challenge under those two sections.

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeal herein ruled that the reasoning of *McCullough* applied by analogy to attorney fees and probation supervision fees. (Slip. Opn. p. 3.) The question thus becomes whether *McCullough's ratio decidendi* applies to these two fees.

II. UNDER McCULLOUGH'S RATIONALE THE FORFEITURE RULE DOES NOT APPLY TO ATTORNEY FEES OR COSTS OF PROBATION SUPERVISION.

McCullough's forfeiture rule does not apply to attorney fees and probation supervision because the statutes which authorize these costs impose jurisdictional and procedural prerequisites before a defendant can be ordered to pay them. (McCullough, at pp. 598-599.) Such prerequisites set conditions on the trial court's underlying authority to make the orders in question and this, in turn, necessarily implicates the factual basis for the court's exercise of authority. Under McCullough, the existence of such preconditions entitles appellants to mount an insufficiency of the evidence challenge on appeal without prior objection below.

In *McCullough*, this Court contextualized the issue before it as whether "the rule permitting challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence to support a judgment 'should apply' to [a finding of" ability to pay a booking fee]." (*McCullough*, at p. 599 and p. 596, citing *Butler*, at p. 1126 [italics original].) Based on this formulation of the issue, this Court then undertook to examine what factors its own precedents had relied on in allowing insufficiency of evidence claims with respect to orders and findings other than judgements predicated on the jury's verdict.

As noted, *McCullough* held that the rule allowing insufficiency of evidence challenges without prior objection did not apply to booking fees. In arriving at this conclusion, *McCullough* looked at and compared the terms of Government Code section 29550, subdivisions (a) and (c) with other other statutes authorizing the imposition of fees or sentence-related orders. This Court found that "[i]n contrast to the booking fee statutes, many of these other statutes provide procedural requirements or guidelines for the ability-to-pay determination." (*Id.*, at p. 598 [italics added].) *McCullough* concluded that because the Legislature "ha[d] interposed no procedural safeguards or guidelines for its imposition," a booking fee was "*de minimis*" matter as to which "the rule permitting challenges made to the sufficiency of the evidence to support a judgment for the first time on appeal" should *not* apply. (*Id.*, at p. 599.)

Thus, the ground of distinction which *McCullough* relied upon was not the amount of the fee in question nor whether the issue could be characterized as "factual" or "legal" (see infra, p. 26) but whether the statute authorizing the fee had interposed "procedural safeguards and guidelines" as a precondition to the assessment. In so ruling, *McCullough* adopted a due process standard based on legislative intent. The essence of *McCullough's* analysis was that if the legislature had deemed the matter to be significant enough to warrant due process protections, then (as in *Butler*) an insufficiency of evidence claim could be raised on appeal without prior objection.

In contrasting the booking fee statute, McCullough specifically noted and

distinguished awards of attorney fees (Pen. Code, § 987.8) and costs of probation supervision (Pen. Code, § 1203.1b) as requiring noticed hearing and "other procedural safeguards." (*McCullough, supra*, at pp. 598-599.) *McCullough* did not launch into a detailed review of these other statutes but, given the point being made with respect to the ground of distinction, a brief summary of these two statutes is in order.

Appointment of counsel and attorney fees in a criminal case are governed by Penal Code sections 987 through 987.81.6 Seriatim, section 987, subdivision (a) provides for the appointment of counsel for indigent defendants. Subdivision (c) of the same section provides that "the court may require a defendant to file a financial statement or other financial information under penalty of perjury with the court or, in its discretion, order a defendant to appear before a county officer designated by the court to make an inquiry into the ability of the defendant to employ his or her own counsel." Section 987.2, subdivision (a) provides that "assigned counsel shall receive a reasonable sum for compensation and for necessary expenses, the amount of which shall be determined by the court[.]" Section 987.3 lists factors for determining counsel's necessary expenses and reasonable fees. Section 987.4 allows recoupment of costs from a minor's

⁶ Many of the provisions concern county options in arranging for representation and differences between capital and non-capital cases. These details are not germane to the issues in this appeal.

⁷ These include: "(a) Customary fee in the community for similar services rendered by privately retained counsel to a non-indigent client. (b) The time and labor required to be spent by the attorney. (c) The { Cont'd. on p. 13

parent or guardian. Section 987.5, subdivisions (a), (b) and (e) provide for the assessment of a \$50.00 "registration fee" at the county's option, to be collected at the start of the proceedings if the defendant indicates that he is able to pay the fee and which shall be credited to any final imposition of costs at the conclusion of the case per section 987.8. Section 987.8, subdivision (f) provides that prior to the furnishing of legal assistance, the court shall give notice to the defendant that it "may, after a hearing, make a determination" as to the defendant; ability to pay all or a portion of the cost of counsel. Subdivision (a) of that same section provides for a hearing at the start of proceedings "to determine whether the defendant owns or has an interest in any real property or other assets" which are lienable by the county "for the payment of providing legal assistance to an indigent defendant."8 Subdivision (b) of the section provides, in pertinent part, that "upon conclusion of the criminal proceedings in the trial court, ... the court may, after notice and a hearing, make a determination of the present ability of the defendant to pay all or a portion of the cost thereof. ...[and]... may, in its discretion, order the defendant to appear before a county officer designated by the court to make an inquiry into the ability of the defendant to pay all or a portion of the legal

difficulty of the defense. (d) The novelty or uncertainty of the law upon which the decision depended. (e) The degree of professional ability, skill, and experience called for and exercised in the performance of the services. (f) The professional character, qualification, and standing of the attorney." (Ibid.)

⁸ The provision does not explicitly state or reference that the hearing is at the start of the case but that is the statute's sense in context and contrast with the other provisions in question.

assistance provided." 9

Section 987.8 subdivision (e) provides a "non-exclusive" list of a defendant's procedural rights at any assessment hearing, including: "(1) The right to be heard in person. (2) The right to present witnesses and other documentary evidence. (3) The right to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses. (4) The right to have the evidence against him or her disclosed to him or her. (5) The right to a written statement of the findings of the court." The subdivision further provides: "If the court determines that the defendant has the present ability to pay all or a part of the cost, the court shall set the amount to be reimbursed and order the defendant to pay the sum to the county in the manner in which the court believes reasonable and compatible with the defendant's financial ability. Failure of a defendant who is not in custody to appear after due notice is a sufficient basis for an order directing the defendant to pay the full cost of the legal assistance determined by the court. The order to pay all or a part of the costs may be enforced in the manner provided for enforcement of money judgments generally but may not be enforced by contempt."

By no stretch of the imagination can an award of attorney fees under

⁹ Subdivision (c) governs cases where the defendant subsequently retains private counsel and provides that "the court shall make a determination of the defendant's ability to pay as provided in subdivision (b)[.]"

Section 987 et seq., be regarded as a "de minimis" procedural matter. On the contrary, the Legislature has explicitly promulgated detailed procedures and guidelines for assessing and determining costs. The conclusion, implicit in the distinction drawn by McCullough, is that attorney fees are are not a subject matter as to which the rationales underlying forfeiture ought to apply.

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