In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S213571

v

OCTAVIO AGUILAR,

Defendant and Appellant.

SUPREME COURT FILED

First Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. A135516 Contra Costa County Superior Court, Case No. 51202696 The Honorable Thomas M. Maddock, Judge MAR 2 0 2014

Frank A. i/IcGuire Clerk

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Deputy

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant forfeited the claim of error by his failure at sentencing to make a timely, specific objection to the trial court. He did not object that the trial court made no finding of his ability to pay the challenged fees, or that there was insufficient evidence of his ability to pay the fees. Nor did he object that the trial court's finding of the defendant's ability to pay was otherwise procedurally deficient.

Many opinions of this Court require a timely, specific objection in order to obtain appellate review of a trial court's exercise of sentencing discretion. That line of decisions culminated in *People v. McCullough* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 589. That decision held the defendant's failure to make an objection regarding a booking fee under Government Code section 29550.2 forfeited an appellate claim of insufficient evidence for a finding of the defendant's ability to pay. (*Id.* at p. 591.)

Contrary to appellant's argument, *McCullough* reflects a rule of general applicability regarding appellate challenges to a trial court's finding

of the defendant's ability to pay fees and fines in the amount ordered at sentencing. *McCullough* cannot properly be characterized as an exception to a rule that the issue is one of "sufficiency of the evidence" that generally can be raised for the first time on appeal.

Treating such claims as seeking review of the sufficiency of the evidence, rather than of a discretionary ruling on the facts at sentencing, ignores the several justifications for the application of the forfeiture doctrine to sentencing issues in general and to the defendant's ability to pay a fine or fee in particular. A determination of ability to pay depends on a defendant's individual circumstances considered in light of the sentencing discretion accorded to the trial court under the relevant statute. A timely and specific objection directs the trial court's attention to any needed findings as prescribed by the Legislature. The objection requirement reduces the need for appeals challenging fees and fines—appeals that may involve costs to the public exceeding the amount of payments ordered by the trial court and challenged by the defendant. The requirement also avoids unnecessary remands for resentencing on matters that were not subject to real dispute.

In the present case, where defendant touted to the trial court his uninterrupted employment history in a bid for probation, a remand for failure to make the finding of ability to pay these modest fees would be a waste of judicial resources. Appellant has forfeited the claim twice: once at the sentencing hearing and a second time when evidently he elected not to take up the court's offer to present a financial justification for reduction of the fees to the probation officer. In all probability he bypassed both chances because he actually proved he worked full time and had the ability to pay the fees to obtain probation. If appellant wanted a hearing, separate from his sentencing, nothing stopped him from objecting to the fees at the time of sentencing. Enforcing the objection requirement in cases like this

one helps to ensure the compilation of a sufficient record for review when a defendant's ability to pay is a legitimate issue in actual dispute.

No convincing rationale exists to require courts to parse, on a case-by-case basis, the statutory basis and the procedural background respecting each challenged fee for the first time on appeal before deciding if a failure to object forfeits a claim that the trial court failed to make a finding, or made a deficient finding, of the defendant's ability to pay. Timely and specific objection in the sentencing court is the rule; if an individual exception to the rule applies, it is the defendant's burden to establish it as with other forfeitures of appellate claims. As no exception applies here, appellant's failure to object forfeited the issue on appeal.

ARGUMENT

- I. PEOPLE V. McCullough Reflects a Forfeiture Rule of General Application to Sentencing Claims Involving a Defendant's Ability to Pay a Fee Ordered by the Trial Court
 - A. Challenges to the Imposition of Fees and Fines Must First Be Raised in the Trial Court to Preserve the Issue for Appeal.

A long line of decisions by this Court establish that nonjurisdictional sentencing issues not raised by a timely, specific objection in the trial court are forfeited. (*People v. Nelson* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 198, 227 ["At the time of his 1995 crime and his 2000 sentencing, the law called for the court to consider a defendant's ability to pay in setting a restitution fine, and defendant could have objected at the time if he believed inadequate consideration was being given to this factor"]; *People v. Avila* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 680, 729 [forfeiture of claim of a trial court's failure to consider inability to pay restitution fine]; *People v. Gonzalez* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 745, 755 [claim challenging a trial court's reliance on defendant's use of firearms to impose the upper term sentence and a sentencing enhancement,

as well as claim that court imposed restitution without a hearing both forfeited]; *People v. Tillman* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 300, 302-303 [state's claim that trial court failed to state reasons for not imposing restitution fine forfeited]; *People v. Scott* (1994) 9 Cal.4th 3331, 353 [claims that the trial court failed "to properly make or articulate its discretionary sentencing choices" must be raised first in the trial court or they are forfeited]; *People v. Welch* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 228, 235, 237 [failure to object to probation conditions forfeits a challenge on appeal]; *People v. Walker* (1991) 54 Cal.3d 1013, 1023 [claim of failure to advise that restitution fines would be a consequence of a guilty plea forfeited].)

The decisions of this Court apply an equally well-settled rule of appellate review by requiring a defendant to make a specific and timely objection in the trial court to preserve a challenge on appeal to the discretionary sentencing choices of the trial court. (See *People v. McCullough*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 593; *In re Sheena K.* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 875, 880-881; *People v. Scott, supra*, 9 Cal.4th at pp. 348-351; *People v. Welch* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 228, 232-237.)

Courts of Appeal have applied these principles to hold broadly that challenges to the imposition of fines and fees must be raised first in the trial court and will not be entertained for the first time on appeal. (See, e.g., *People v. Crittle* (2007) 154 Cal.App.4th 368, 371 [claim that trial court failed to consider ability to pay crime prevention fines forfeited]; *People v. Valtakis* (2003) 105 Cal.App.4th 1066, 1068-1076 [claim that the trial court failed to consider ability to pay a Penal Code section 1203.1b probation costs fee, inform the defendant of his statutory right to a hearing, or hold a hearing, all forfeited]; *People v. Hodges* (1999) 70 Cal.App.4th 1348, 1357 [challenge to imposition of section 29550.2 booking fee forfeited]; *People v. Gibson* (1994) 27 Cal.App.4th 1466, 1468-1469 [claim that trial court failed to consider ability to pay restitution fine forfeited]; *People v. Phillips*

(1994) 25 Cal.App.4th 62, 70, 75-76 [although statutes provide for a hearing to determine ability to pay probation costs and reimburse county for cost of court-appointed attorney, the matter may be determined at sentencing; failure to object forfeits issue of whether a separate hearing should have been held pursuant to sections 987.8 and 1203.1b].)

B. McCullough States the Rule of Appellate Forfeiture, Not an Exception

People v. McCullough, supra, 56 Cal.4th at p. 593, is fully consistent with a broad application of the appellate forfeiture rule respecting these sentencing matters. There, this Court recognized the "numerous occasions" where it has observed that "ordinarily, a criminal defendant who does not challenge an assertedly erroneous ruling of the trial court in that court has forfeited his or her right to raise the claim on appeal." (McCullough, supra, 56 Cal.4th at p. 593, quoting Sheena K., supra, 40 Cal.4th at p. 880.) The purpose of the appellate forfeiture rule is to encourage parties to "bring errors to the attention of the trial court, so that they may be corrected." (McCullough, supra, 56 Cal.4th at p. 593, quoting Sheena K., supra, 40 Cal.4th at p. 880.) Conversely, "[i]t is both unfair and inefficient to permit a claim of error on appeal that, if timely brought to the attention of the trial court, could have been easily corrected or avoided." (McCullough, supra, at p. 593, quoting People v. Vera (1997) 15 Cal.4th 269, 276.)

Consistent with these established principles, *McCullough*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th 589, 598, found the need for the trial court to make a determination of ability to pay must expressly be invoked by the defendant, lest a factual inference be made otherwise. Specifically, the Court held that a defendant who failed to challenge a booking fee under Government Code section 29550.2 forfeited a claim of insufficiency of evidence as to an ability to pay finding. (*Id.* at p. 591.) This Court disapproved of *People v. Pacheco*

(2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 1392, which held that the issue of ability to pay based on sufficiency of the evidence is preserved for appellate review regardless of whether an objection is made at sentencing. (*McCullough*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at p. 599.)

C. The Legislature Did Not Intend for Courts to Have to Parse Fines and Fees Statutes on a Case By Case Basis

Appellant acknowledges *McCullough*, but wants it overruled or its holding limited to the one fee this Court addressed. He asserts that the record failed to show the finding of ability to pay the pre-sentence investigation fee required under section 1203.1b or the attorney fee ordered pursuant to section 987.8 and attempts to distinguish *McCullough* on the grounds that the presentence investigation fees, alcohol testing fees, and attorneys fees at issue here are not de minimis, as are the booking fees, and that the Legislature required a finding of ability to pay for such fees, with or without an objection.

Nothing in section 1203.1b, however abrogates the general rule of forfeiture recognized in *McCullough*. *McCullough* reached its conclusion by referencing an array of fines and fees, from restitution fines (former Gov. Code, § 13967 [see now § 1202.4]) to drug program fees (Health & Saf. Code, § 11372.7), all of which can only be preserved for appellate review by objection. (See *People v. Forshay* (1995) 39 Cal.App.4th 686, 689-690; *People v. Martinez* (1998) 65 Cal.App.4th 1511, 1517.) This Court said: "By 'failing to object on the basis of his [ability] to pay,' defendant forfeits both his claim of factual error and the dependent claim challenging 'the adequacy of the record on that point." (*McCullough*, *supra*, at p. 597, quoting *Forshay*, *supra*, at pp. 689-690.)

Nothing in the Court's language suggested an appellate court must go through the relevant code section to assess whether the forfeiture rule applies to each individual fee and/or fine imposed in the trial court. The fundamental principle is that appellate forfeiture applies to such nonjurisdictional issues. *McCullough* relied, in part, on *People v. Simon* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1082, 1086. The latter decision applied appellate forfeiture to a defendant who failed to enter a timely trial objection to venue. Observing that the People bear the burden of proving both proper venue of a criminal case and a defendant's ability to pay a booking fee by a preponderance of the evidence, the Court reasoned: "[A] defendant who does nothing to put at issue the propriety of imposition of a booking fee forfeits the right to challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to support imposition of the booking fee on appeal, in the same way that a defendant who goes to trial forfeits his challenge to the propriety of venue by not timely challenging it." (*McCullough*, *supra*, 56 Cal.4th at pp. 597-598.) This language implies a broad forfeiture principle with respect to nonjurisdictional issues like the present one, which is not confined to booking fees, or for that matter to sentencing issues.

McCullough also cited in support of its holding other statutes that "similarly require[] a court to determine if a defendant is able to pay a fee before the court may impose it," including probation supervision fees (§ 987.8), work furlough and electronic monitoring fees (§ 1208.2), parole supervision and treatment fees (§§ 646.94, 3006), reimbursement for cost of court-appointed counsel (§ 987.8), and drug program fees (Health & Saf. Code, § 11372.7). The Court observed these statutes contain varying procedural safeguards not contained in the booking fee statute, such as provision for notice and a hearing and a list of factors that should be taken into account in determining ability to pay. The Court said that the absence of similar procedural safeguards or guidelines for the imposition of booking fees showed the Legislature considered the burden of the booking fee to be de minimis and made "the rationale for forfeiture particularly strong." (56 Cal.4th at p. 599.) That the Court made its forfeiture ruling in a

"particularly strong" case does not imply that the related and analogous cases do not fall under the rule.

As *McCullough* reflects, appellate forfeiture applies generally to a claim of omission or deficiency in the trial court's findings of a defendant's ability to pay a required fine or fee. What the failure to object forfeits is an appellate court's review of the reasonableness of the sentencing discretion delegated to the trial court by the Legislature, based on the factual findings—either express or implied—made by the court at sentencing. The availability of appellate review of that discretionary matter ultimately does not turn on the mechanics of a court's consideration of the defendant's ability to pay, on the amount of a particular fine or fee, or on the characterization of a challenge to that amount as a sufficiency-of-the-evidence claim.

Such an exercise of sentencing discretion based on the trial court's factual findings is no different, for present purposes, than a requirement that the trial court supply reasons to support its selection of a particular sentence within an authorized range (see *Scott*, *supra*, 9 Cal.4th at pp. 348-351), or a requirement that the trial court determine the defendant's eligibility for, or the conditions of, probation within the parameters set by statute (see *Welch*, *supra*, 5 Cal.4th at p. 232).

Nor does the issue of forfeiture focus on the amount of the fee or fine in a particular case. Whether the fine is "de minimis" or substantial, an objection is required. For example, in *People v. Nelson*, *supra*, 51 Cal.4th 198, the Court upheld an invocation of the appellate forfeiture rule where the defendant had failed to object on the grounds of inability to pay a \$10,000 restitution fine. (*Id.* at p. 227 ["At the time of his 1995 crime and his 2000 sentencing, the law called for the court to consider a defendant's ability to pay in setting a restitution fine, and defendant could have objected at the time if he believed inadequate consideration was being given to this

factor."].) The Court reiterated that there is no requirement that the sentencing court make an express finding of an "ability to pay" and that the absence of specific findings does not demonstrate that the court failed to properly consider the issue. (*Id.* at p. 227.) Appellant undermined below his "de minimis" argument by including in his list of offending fees the alcohol testing fee that is less burdensome than the booking fee this Court found de minimis and subject to forfeiture in *McCullough*.

Additionally, challenges to ability-to-pay findings, or the lack thereof, concern "factual determinations" not legal conclusions. *McCullough* so recognized by citing in support of its holding both *People v. Welch*, *supra*, 5 Cal.4th at page 236 [probation conditions], and *People v. Scott*, *supra*, 9 Cal.4th 331, 354-355 [sentencing reasons], both decisions of the Court concerning claimed sentencing errors that "encompass[] factual matters only," which are forfeited in the absence of a trial objection. (*McCullough*, *supra*, 54 Cal.4th at p. 597.) The forfeiture principle announced in *Welch*, reiterated in *Scott*, and reaffirmed in *McCullough*, clearly applies to a much broader range of sentencing decisions than whether to impose a booking fee based on a defendant's ability to pay.

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